Appendix C

Copyright (c) Queen's Printer, Victoria, British Columbia, Canada License Disclaimer

This Act is Current to May 3, 2017

This Act has "Not in Force" sections. See the Table of Legislative Changes.

BUILDING ACT

[SBC 2015] CHAPTER 2

Assented to March 25, 2015

Contents

Part 1 — Interpretation and Application

- 1 Definitions
- 2 Application of Act

Part 2 — Building Regulations

- 3 Building regulations
- 4 Enforcement of building regulations by local authorities
- 5 Restrictions on local authority jurisdiction
- 6 Regulation of building by treaty first nations
- 7 Request by local authority for variation
- 8 Not in force
- 9 Power to engage or retain consultants or specialists
- 10 Local authority building decisions

Part 3 — Building Officials

Division 1 — Building Officials

- 11 Qualification as building official
- 12 Register of qualified building officials
- 13 Annual report and annual fees

Division 2 – Administration

- 14 Administrative agreement
- 15 Power to delegate administration
- 16 Delegation does not make person an agent of government
- 17 Power of administrative authority to set fees for matters under its administration
- 18 Power to order audit

Part 4 — Building Code Appeal Board

- 19 Building Code Appeal Board
- 20 Appeals
- 21 Appeal board decisions

Part 5 — Administrative Penalties

22 Definition

- 23 Administrative penalties
- 24 Available administrative penalties
- 25 Notice of administrative penalty
- 26 Due date of monetary penalty
- 27 Enforcement of monetary penalty
- 28 Limitation period
- 29 Reconsiderations
- 30 Appeals

Part 6 — Cost-Recovery

Division 1 — Requests for Variations

- 31 Definitions
- 32 Costs that may be recovered
- 33 Request in respect of recoverable costs
- 34 Reconciliation of recoverable costs

Division 2 — Not in force

35 to Not in force

38

Part 7 — General

- 39 How to serve notices
- 40 Offence Act
- 41 Regulations of minister
- 42 Regulations of Lieutenant Governor in Council

Part 8 — Transitional Provisions and Consequential and Related Amendments

- 43 Transition restrictions on local authority jurisdiction
- 44 Transition local authority building decisions
- 45 Transition Building Code Appeal Board
- 46-62 Consequential and Related Amendments
 - 63 Commencement

Part 1 — Interpretation and Application

Definitions

1 In this Act:

"administrative agreement" means an agreement under section 14 [administrative agreement];

"administrative authority" means the person with whom the minister enters into an administrative agreement;

"**appeal board**" means the Building Code Appeal Board continued under section 19 [Building Code Appeal Board];

"building activity" means

- (a) the construction of new buildings, or
- (b) the alteration, repair or demolition of existing buildings;

"building regulation" means a regulation under section 3 (1) (a), (b) or (c) [building regulations];

"extraprovincial building credential" means an official recognition, conferred by another jurisdiction in Canada, that attests to an individual being qualified or authorized to perform in that jurisdiction work that is the same as or is substantially similar to the work of a qualified building official;

"local authority" means any of the following:

(a) a municipality;

(b) a regional district;

(c) the Nisga'a Lisims Government;

(d) a treaty first nation;

(e) the board of governors of the University of British Columbia;

(f) any other authority prescribed by regulation of the Lieutenant Governor in Council;

"qualified building official" means a person who is qualified as a building official under section 11 [qualification as building official];

"**register**" means the register established under section 12 [*register of qualified building officials*];

"registrar" means the registrar designated under section 12.

Application of Act

2 This Act does not apply to the following:

(a) the City of Vancouver;

(b) buildings in, on or about a mine, within the meaning of the *Mines Act*, other than bunkhouses, cook houses and related residential facilities.

Part 2 — Building Regulations

Building regulations

3 (1) The minister may make regulations as follows:

(a) establishing one or more building codes;

(b) regulating building generally for matters not included in a building code;

(c) providing in respect of a matter or class of matters referred to in subsection (2) (f) that all or part of a building regulation

(i) does not apply, or

(ii) applies with modifications or additions.

(2) A regulation under subsection (1) may do one or more of the following:

(a) prescribe requirements in respect of building activities;

(b) prescribe requirements for the reduction of safety risks on sites where building activities occur;

(c) prescribe requirements in respect of one or more of the following:

(i) the design of buildings or planning of building activities;

(ii) the inspection of buildings or building activities;

(iii) the designs, plans, notices, reports or other records relating to an activity referred to in subparagraph (i) or (ii);

(iv) the preparation, retention or inspection of records;

(v) any other matter that the minister considers necessary or advisable;

(d) require that building activities, or activities referred to in paragraph

(c) (i) or (ii), be performed by, or records referred to in paragraph (c) (iii) be prepared by, persons in specified classes of persons;

(e) adopt by reference, in whole or in part and with any changes the minister considers necessary, any code or standard set by a provincial, national or international body or any other code or standard making body, as the code or standard stands at a specific date, as it stands at

the time of adoption or as amended from time to time;

(f) provide differently for different buildings, materials, geographic areas, local authorities, circumstances or other matters, or classes of buildings, materials, geographic areas, local authorities, circumstances or other matters;

(g) establish classes of persons, buildings, materials, geographic areas, local authorities, circumstances or other matters;

(h) specify circumstances or conditions under which all or part of the regulation applies;

(i) authorize a specified local authority to provide, in a particular case, that requirements in a building regulation to provide for the future installation of a solar domestic hot water system do not apply in relation to a building to be newly constructed in the jurisdiction of the local authority if the local authority is satisfied that the site where the building will be constructed does not permit effective use of solar domestic hot water systems.

5/15/17, 3:29 PM

Enforcement of building regulations by local authorities

4 A building regulation has the same force and effect as the following:

(a) a bylaw, rule, law or prescribed instrument that is validly enacted by a local authority;

(b) a bylaw that is validly enacted under the *University Endowment Land Act*.

Restrictions on local authority jurisdiction

5 (1) In this section, **"local building requirement"** means a requirement in respect of building activities that is enacted by a local authority other than a treaty first nation or the Nisga'a Lisims Government.

(2) This section applies despite any of the following:

(a) the Community Charter;

(b) the Fire Services Act;

(c) the *Islands Trust Act*;

(d) the Local Government Act;

(e) the University Act;

(f) any other Act prescribed by regulation of the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

(3) Subject to subsection (4), a local building requirement has no effect to the extent that it relates to a matter that is

(a) subject to a requirement, in respect of building activities, of a building regulation, or

(b) prescribed by regulation as a restricted matter.

(4) Subsection (3) does not apply in relation to a matter that is prescribed by regulation as an unrestricted matter.

Regulation of building by treaty first nations

6 If, under the final agreement of a treaty first nation, the government is required to negotiate and attempt to reach agreement with the treaty first nation enabling the treaty first nation to establish standards, for buildings or structures to which a building regulation applies, that are different from or in addition to the standards established by the building regulation, the minister, on behalf of the government, may enter into an agreement reached in the negotiation.

Request by local authority for variation

7 (1) One or more local authorities may make a written request to the minister that the minister make a building regulation in respect of the local authority or

local authorities, as applicable.

(2) The request under subsection (1) must

- (a) be made in a form and manner acceptable to the minister, and
- (b) be accompanied by any prescribed fee.

Not in force

8 [Not in force.]

Power to engage or retain consultants or specialists

9 (1) For the purposes of reviewing a request under section 7 or 8, the minister may engage or retain consultants or specialists the minister considers necessary and may determine their remuneration.

(2) The *Public Service Act* does not apply to a person engaged or retained under subsection (1).

Local authority building decisions

- **10** (1) In this section, **"exempt building professional"** means
 - (a) a member of a prescribed professional association, or
 - (b) a person in a prescribed class of persons.

(2) A local authority must not allow or require a person to decide on behalf of the local authority whether a matter conforms to a building regulation, unless

(a) the person is a qualified building official and the matter is within the person's current scope of practice as listed in the register, or

(b) the person is an exempt building professional.

(3) A person must not decide on behalf of a local authority whether a matter conforms to a building regulation, unless

(a) the person is a qualified building official and the matter is within the person's current scope of practice as listed in the register, or

(b) the person is an exempt building professional.

Part 3 — Building Officials

Division 1 — Building Officials

Qualification as building official

11 (1) In order to be qualified as a building official, a person must

(a) meet the following qualification requirements:

(i) pass one or more qualifying exams specified by the minister;

(ii) satisfy requirements, specified by the minister, respecting continuing professional development;

(iii) be a member in good standing of a prescribed professional association;

(iv) any additional qualification requirements prescribed by regulation,

(b) be entered in the register as a qualified building official, and

(c) not be suspended under Part 5 [Administrative Penalties].

(2) For the purposes of this section, the minister may, by regulation,

(a) establish different scopes of practice and different classes of building officials by scope of practice, and

(b) provide for the recognition of extraprovincial building credentials and the classification of holders of extraprovincial building credentials into the different classes of building officials.

(3) For the purposes of this section, the minister may

(a) specify different qualifying exams under subsection (1) (a) (i), held by the minister or any other person,

(i) for different scopes of practice, and

(ii) for persons in different classes of building officials who hold different extraprovincial building credentials,

(b) specify different requirements under subsection (1) (a) (ii) for different classes of building officials, including, without limitation, by reference to materials or training provided by the minister or any other person,

(c) hold qualifying exams referred to in subsection (1) (a) (i), and

(d) provide materials or training for continuing professional development referred to in subsection (1) (a) (ii).

(4) A person must pay the following fee to take a qualifying exam held under subsection (3) (c):

(a) to the minister, if the power to hold qualifying exams under subsection (3)(c) is not delegated under section 15 [power to delegate administration], a prescribed fee, if any;

(b) to the administrative authority, if the power to hold qualifying exams under subsection (3) (c) is delegated under section 15, a fee, if any, set by the administrative authority in accordance with section 17 [power of administrative authority to set fees for matters under its administration].

(5) A person must pay the following fee to receive materials or training provided

under subsection (3) (d):

(a) to the minister, if the power to provide materials or training under subsection (3) (d) is not delegated under section 15, the prescribed fee, if any;

(b) to the administrative authority, if the power to provide materials or training under subsection (3) (d) is delegated under section 15, the fee, if any, set by the administrative authority in accordance with section 17.

Register of qualified building officials

12 (1) The minister must designate, in writing, an individual as the registrar.

(2) The *Public Service Act* and the *Public Service Labour Relations Act* do not, by virtue of a designation under subsection (1), apply to the individual designated under that subsection.

(3) The registrar must establish and maintain a register of persons who are qualified building officials that includes the following information about each person:

(a) the name of the person;

(b) the current scope of practice of the person and the date on which the person qualified for that scope of practice;

(c) if applicable, each previous scope of practice of the person and the dates on which the person was qualified for that scope of practice;

(d) any other information prescribed by regulation.

(4) The registrar must enter a person in the register if the person

(a) applies in writing in the form required by the registrar,

(b) pays the following annual fees, as applicable:

(i) to the minister, if the administration of some or all of the provisions referred to in section 15 (1) [power to delegate administration] is not delegated under that section, the annual fee prescribed for the purposes of section 13 (b) (i) [annual report and annual fees];

(ii) to the administrative authority, if the administration of some or all of the provisions referred to in section 15 (1) is delegated under that section, the annual fee set by the administrative authority for the purposes of section 13 (b) (ii), and

(c) satisfies the registrar that the person meets the qualification requirements under section 11 (1) (a) [qualification as building official].

(5) The registrar must remove a person from the register if the person

(a) fails to meet a qualification requirement under section 11 (1) (a),

(b) fails to make an annual report in accordance with section 13 (a),

(c) fails to pay an annual fee required under section 13 (b), or

(d) requests to be removed from the register.

(6) A person entered in the register who ceases to be a member in good standing of a professional association referred to in section 11 (1) (a) (iii) must promptly notify the registrar in writing.

(7) For the purposes of this section,

(a) the registrar may require a professional association referred to in section 11 (1) (a) (iii) to advise the registrar of whether a person is a member in good standing of the professional association, and

(b) if required under paragraph (a) to advise the registrar of whether a person is a member in good standing, a professional association must do so.

(8) The registrar must retain, for the prescribed number of years, a record of the information referred to in subsection (3) for each person who is removed from the register.

(9) The registrar must make the register, and the records required to be retained under subsection (8), available to the public by one or both of the following means:

(a) posting the register and records on a publicly accessible website maintained by or on behalf of the government;

(b) having the register and records available for public inspection in the office of the registrar during regular office hours.

Annual report and annual fees

13 A person entered in the register must, annually, in accordance with the regulations,

(a) make an annual report to the registrar declaring whether the person

(i) is a member in good standing of the professional association referred to in section 11 (1) (a) (iii) *[qualification as building official]*, and

(ii) has completed any applicable continuing professional development requirements referred to in section 11 (1) (a) (ii), and

(b) pay the following annual fees, as applicable:

(i) to the minister, if the administration of some or all of the provisions referred to in section 15 (1) [power to delegate

administration] is not delegated under that section, the annual fee prescribed in respect of that administration;

(ii) to the administrative authority, if the administration of some or all of the provisions referred to in section 15 (1) is delegated under that section, the annual fee set by the administrative authority in accordance with section 17 *[power of administrative authority to set fees for matters under its administration]* in respect of that administration.

Division 2 – Administration

Administrative agreement

14 (1) Subject to the approval of the Lieutenant Governor in Council unless that approval is not required by subsection (2), the minister may enter into an agreement with a person respecting the administration by the person of some or all of the provisions of Division 1 [Building Officials], Part 5 [Administrative Penalties] and the regulations contemplated by Division 1 or Part 5.

(2) Approval of the Lieutenant Governor in Council is not required in the case of an administrative agreement that

(a) is entered into by the minister with a person

(i) with whom the minister has previously entered into an administrative agreement that is in effect, and

(ii) to whom a delegation under section 15 [power to delegate administration] has been made that is in effect, and

(b) does not contemplate a further delegation, or a rescission of a delegation, under section 15.

(3) An administrative agreement must include provisions that specify all of the following:

(a) the services to be delivered by the administrative authority;

(b) the performance objectives of the administrative authority;

(c) the terms of the financial arrangement between the administrative authority and the government, including the collection and payment of fees due to the administrative authority or the government and any other financial transitional matters;

(d) the right of access of the administrative authority to records created by the government and the right of access of the government to records created by the administrative authority;

(e) the requirements for records management by the administrative authority;

(f) the requirement that the administrative authority report to the

government any matters in respect of the operation of powers administered by the administrative authority under this Act;

(g) a requirement that the administrative authority carry adequate insurance;

(h) provisions of indemnification between the administrative authority and the government;

(i) the obligations of the parties if the agreement is terminated;

(j) the time period of the agreement or the procedure for the review of the agreement by the administrative authority and the government;

(k) procedures for the settlement of disputes;

(I) a specification of the liability of the administrative authority arising out of the administrative authority carrying out its administration of this Act and the regulations;

(m) any other matter prescribed by regulation of the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

(4) The administrative authority must comply with the terms of the administrative agreement, and may not carry out the administration referred to in subsection (1) except in accordance with that agreement.

(5) Subject to the approval of the Lieutenant Governor in Council, the minister may amend or revoke the administrative agreement without the consent of the administrative authority if the minister gives the administrative authority prior written notice.

Power to delegate administration

15 (1) If the minister enters into an administrative agreement with a person, the Lieutenant Governor in Council may, by regulation, delegate to the person the administration of some or all of the provisions of Division 1 [Building Officials], Part 5 [Administrative Penalties] and the regulations contemplated by Division 1 or Part 5, including any power, function or duty of the minister, except a power to make regulations.

(2) If an amendment to a delegation regulation could substantively affect an administrative agreement, the minister must give reasonable notice to the administrative authority of the proposed amendment and must consult on it with the administrative authority.

(3) If the Lieutenant Governor in Council repeals a regulation under subsection(1), the administrative agreement is terminated.

Delegation does not make person an agent of government

16 A person to whom a delegation under section 15 [power to delegate administration] is made is not an agent of the government for the purposes of the

delegation.

Power of administrative authority to set fees for matters under its administration

17 (1) Despite any power of the Lieutenant Governor in Council or the minister to prescribe fees for matters under the administration of the government, the administrative authority may set fees in accordance with a fee-setting process established by the administrative authority for any matter required under the administrative authority's administration.

(2) The fee-setting process established under subsection (1) must be in accordance with criteria that are established by regulation.

Power to order audit

18 The Lieutenant Governor in Council may direct a person to conduct an audit of the person to whom administration is delegated under section 15 [power to delegate administration].

Part 4 — Building Code Appeal Board

Building Code Appeal Board

19 (1) The Building Code Appeal Board is continued, consisting of the following members appointed by the minister after a merit-based process:

(a) one member designated as the chair;

(b) one member designated as the vice chair;

(c) other members appointed after consultation with the chair.

(2) If the appeal board sits as a tribunal under section 26 (3) of the *Administrative Tribunals Act*, a majority of the appeal board is a quorum.

(3) The following provisions of the *Administrative Tribunals Act* apply to the appeal board:

(a) Part 1 [Interpretation and Application];

(b) Part 2 [Appointments], except section 9 [responsibilities of the chair];

(c) Part 3 [Clustering];

(d) section 11 [general power to make rules respecting practice and procedure];

(e) section 13 [practice directives tribunal may make];

(f) section 18 [failure of party to comply with tribunal orders and rules];

(g) section 26 [organization of tribunal];

(h) section 27 [staff of tribunal];

(i) section 28 [facilitated settlement];

(j) section 29 [disclosure protection];

(k) section 32 [representation of parties to an application];

(I) section 36 [form of hearing of application];

(m) section 39 [adjournments];

(n) section 44 [tribunal without jurisdiction over constitutional questions];

(o) section 46.3 [tribunal without jurisdiction to apply the Human Rights Code];

(p) section 51 [final decision];

(q) section 56 [immunity protection for tribunal and members];

(r) section 58 [standard of review with privative clause];

(s) section 59.1 [surveys];

(t) section 59.2 [reporting];

(u) section 60 (1) (g) to (i) and (2) [power to make regulations].

Appeals

20 (1) The following persons may, by filing an application with the appeal board in accordance with this section, appeal a decision of a local authority on whether a matter conforms to a building regulation:

(a) the owner of the building to which the decision relates;

(b) a person, other than an employee, retained under contract or subcontract by the person referred to in paragraph (a) to provide services in respect of the design, construction, alteration, repair or demolition of the building.

(2) An application under subsection (1) must

(a) be in writing or in another form authorized by the rules of the appeal board,

(b) include any information prescribed by regulation,

(c) be signed by the applicant or the applicant's counsel or agent, and

(d) be accompanied by any applicable application fee prescribed by regulation.

Appeal board decisions

21 (1) The appeal board may confirm, vary or reverse a decision under appeal.

(2) The decision of the appeal board is final and binding and not open to review in any court.

Part 5 — Administrative Penalties

Definition

22 In this Part, "Safety Standards Appeal Board" means the Safety Standards Appeal Board established under the Safety Standards Act.

Administrative penalties

23 (1) The registrar may impose an administrative penalty on a person if the registrar is satisfied on a balance of probabilities that the person has contravened

(a) section 10 (2) or (3) [local authority building decisions], or

(b) subsection (2) of this section.

(2) A person must not knowingly give false or misleading information to the registrar

(a) in an application under section 12 (4) [register of qualified building officials], or

(b) in a report under section 13 (a) [annual report and annual fees].

(3) Before the registrar imposes an administrative penalty on a person, the registrar must consider the following:

(a) previous enforcement actions for contraventions of a similar nature by the person;

(b) the gravity and magnitude of the contravention;

(c) whether the contravention was repeated or continuous;

(d) whether the contravention was deliberate;

(e) any economic benefit derived by the person from the contravention;

(f) the person's efforts to correct the contravention.

(4) The registrar may not impose an administrative penalty on a person if the person demonstrates to the satisfaction of the registrar that the person exercised due diligence to prevent the contravention.

Available administrative penalties

24 (1) A local authority on whom an administrative penalty is imposed is liable to a monetary penalty of not more than the amount prescribed by regulation of the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

(2) An individual on whom an administrative penalty is imposed is liable to one or

more of the following administrative penalties:

(a) a monetary penalty of not more than the amount prescribed by regulation of the Lieutenant Governor in Council;

(b) a suspension, for a period of time the registrar considers appropriate, of the individual's status as a qualified building official;

(c) removal from the register, if applicable, and a permanent ban on being entered in the register.

Notice of administrative penalty

- **25** If the registrar imposes an administrative penalty on a person, the registrar must serve on the person a notice imposing the administrative penalty that specifies the following:
 - (a) the contravention;
 - (b) the administrative penalty imposed;
 - (c) if a monetary penalty is imposed,
 - (i) the amount of the monetary penalty, and
 - (ii) the date by which the monetary penalty must be paid;

(d) if a suspension is imposed, the period of time during which the suspension has effect;

(e) if a ban is imposed, the date on which the ban takes effect;

(f) the right of the person to request a reconsideration under section 29.

Due date of monetary penalty

26 A person on whom a monetary penalty is imposed must pay the monetary penalty to the Minister of Finance within 30 days after the latest of the following dates, as applicable:

(a) the date on which the notice under section 25 is served on the person;

(b) if the person requests a reconsideration under section 29, the date on which the notice referred to in section 29 (4) (b) is served on the person, unless the monetary penalty is rescinded under section 29 (4)(a);

(c) if the person commences an appeal under section 30, the date on which the decision of the Safety Standards Appeal Board is served on the person, unless the decision appealed is reversed by the Safety Standards Appeal Board.

Enforcement of monetary penalty

27 (1) On the date that a monetary penalty is payable under section 26, the penalty constitutes a debt payable to the Minister of Finance by the person on whom the penalty is imposed.

(2) If a person fails to pay a monetary penalty as required under section 26, the Minister of Finance may file with the Provincial Court a certified copy of the notice imposing the monetary penalty and, on being filed, the notice has the same force and effect, and all proceedings may be taken on the notice, as if it were a judgment of that court.

(3) If an individual who is a qualified building official fails to pay a monetary penalty as required under section 26, the registrar may suspend the individual's status as a qualified building official until the penalty is paid.

(4) For the purposes of section 11 (1) (c) [qualification as building official], if the registrar suspends an individual's status as a qualified building official under subsection (3) or section 23 [administrative penalties], the registrar must indicate in the register that the individual's status is suspended.

Limitation period

28 (1) The time limit for giving a notice imposing an administrative penalty is 2 years after the date on which the act or omission alleged to constitute the contravention first came to the attention of the registrar.

(2) A certificate purporting to have been issued by the registrar and certifying the date referred to in subsection (1) is proof of that date.

Reconsiderations

29 (1) A person who receives notice under section 25 of an administrative penalty may, within 30 days after the notice is served on the person, request the registrar to reconsider the administrative penalty.

(2) A request under subsection (1) must be in writing and must identify the error the person believes was made or the other grounds on which a reconsideration is requested.

(3) On receipt by the registrar of a request under subsection (1), the administrative penalty to be reconsidered as a result of the request

(a) is stayed, if the administrative penalty is a monetary penalty, and

(b) is not stayed, if the administrative penalty is not a monetary penalty, unless the registrar orders that the administrative penalty is stayed.

(4) As soon as practicable after receiving a request under subsection (1), the registrar must

(a) confirm, vary or rescind the administrative penalty, and

- (b) serve on the person a notice of the following:
 - (i) the decision of the registrar;
 - (ii) the reasons for the decision;
 - (iii) the right of the person to appeal the decision under section 30.

(5) The registrar may conduct a written, electronic or oral reconsideration, or any combination of them, as the registrar, in his or her sole discretion, considers appropriate.

Appeals

30 (1) A person who receives notice under section 29 (4) (b) of a decision of the registrar may, within 30 days after the notice is served on the person, appeal the decision to the Safety Standards Appeal Board.

(2) Subject to subsection (3), the commencement of an appeal does not operate as a stay of the decision being appealed, unless the Safety Standards Appeal Board orders otherwise.

(3) The commencement of an appeal with respect to an administrative penalty that is a monetary penalty operates as a stay of the decision under section 29 (4)(a) that did not rescind the administrative penalty.

(4) Subject to this Act, the following provisions of the *Safety Standards Act* apply to an appeal under this Part:

(a) Part 8 [Safety Standards Appeal Board];

(b) Division 2 [Appeals to the Safety Standards Appeal Board] of Part9, except the following:

- (i) section 51 [right to appeal];
- (ii) section 52 (1) [board must consider public safety];
- (iii) section 54 [appeal does not operate as stay];

(iv) section 62 [enforcement of appeal board orders].

(5) Despite subsection (4), the following provisions of the *Administrative Tribunals Act* incorporated under section 44 [application of Administrative *Tribunals Act*] of the *Safety Standards Act* do not apply to an appeal under this Part:

(a) section 26 [organization of tribunal];

(b) section 27 [staff of tribunal];

(c) section 30 [tribunal duties];

- (d) section 33 [interveners];
- (e) section 47 (1) (a) and (b) [costs payable to party or intervener];
- (f) section 48 [maintenance of order at hearings];

(g) section 49 [contempt proceeding for uncooperative witness or other person].

Part 6 — Cost-Recovery

Division 1 – Requests for Variations

Definitions

31 In this Division:

"calculated amount", in respect of a request under section 7 or 8, means the amount calculated under section 34 (3) (a) [reconciliation of recoverable costs];

"received amount", in respect of a request under section 7 or 8, means the amount referred to in section 34 (1) (b);

"recoverable cost" means a cost that is recoverable according to section 32;

"responsible person", in respect of a request under section 7 or 8, means the local authority or person who made the request;

"**specified minimum amount**" means an amount prescribed for the purposes of section 34 (3) (b) (ii) and (c).

Costs that may be recovered

32 (1) Subject to subsection (2), the following costs to the government arising from a request under section 7 or 8 are recoverable under this Division:

(a) the reasonable costs of an employee of the government participating in the determination of the request, calculated on an hourly basis in accordance with the prescribed rate;

(b) the reasonable costs to engage or retain a consultant or specialist under section 9 in relation to the request.

(2) A cost is not recoverable under this Division if the service to which the cost relates is performed before the responsible person pays an amount to the minister in response to a notice under section 33 (1) (b).

Request in respect of recoverable costs

33 (1) The minister may, after conducting a preliminary review of a request under section 7 or 8,

- (a) estimate the recoverable costs to determine the request,
- (b) serve on the responsible person written notice of

(i) the amount estimated under paragraph (a),

(ii) the date by which the minister requires that amount to be paid, and

(iii) the liability that the responsible person may incur under section 34 if the responsible person pays an amount in response to the notice, and

(c) dismiss the request if the responsible person fails to pay the amount estimated under paragraph (a) by the date specified in the notice.

(2) An estimate under subsection (1) (a) must be made in accordance with the regulations.

(3) An amount received by the minister in response to a notice under subsection (1) (b) is conclusively deemed not to be trust funds within the meaning of the *Financial Administration Act* and must be paid into the consolidated revenue fund.

Reconciliation of recoverable costs

34 (1) This section does not apply in relation to a request under section 7 or 8, unless

(a) notice is served under section 33 (1) (b) in respect of the request, and

(b) the responsible person pays an amount to the minister in response to that notice.

(2) If the minister considers, at any time before a request under section 7 or 8 is determined or withdrawn, that the recoverable costs to determine the request are likely to exceed the amount estimated under section 33 (1) (a), the minister must promptly serve on the responsible person written notice of the amount by which the minister estimates those recoverable costs will exceed the amount estimated under section 33 (1) (a).

(3) Within the prescribed number of days after a request under section 7 or 8 is determined or withdrawn, the minister must

- (a) calculate the recoverable costs arising from the request,
- (b) serve on the responsible person written notice that

(i) states the calculated amount and the difference between the calculated amount and the received amount, and

(ii) if the calculated amount exceeds the received amount by at least the specified minimum amount, requires the responsible person to pay the difference between those amounts within 30 days after the notice is served on the responsible person, and

(c) if the received amount exceeds the calculated amount by at least

the specified minimum amount, refund to the responsible person from the consolidated revenue fund the difference between those amounts.

(4) A calculation under subsection (3) (a) must be made in accordance with the regulations.

(5) A responsible person who is required by a notice under subsection (3) (b) to pay an amount must do so within 30 days after the notice is served on the responsible person.

(6) On the date that an amount is payable under subsection (5), the amount constitutes a debt payable to the government by the responsible person.

(7) If the responsible person fails to pay an amount as required under subsection (5), the minister may file with the Supreme Court or the Provincial Court a certified copy of the notice under subsection (3) (b) and, on being filed, the notice has the same force and effect, and all proceedings may be taken on the notice, as if it were a judgment of that court.

Division 2 — Not in force

Not in force

35 to 38 [Not in force.]

Part 7 — General

How to serve notices

39 (1) All notices required under this Act to be served on a person

(a) must be served in a manner prescribed by regulation of the Lieutenant Governor in Council, and

(b) if served in a manner referred to in paragraph (a), are deemed to be received by the person at the time prescribed for the manner by regulation of the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

(2) On application by any person, the Supreme Court may, for the purposes of this Act,

(a) give directions on how to serve a notice on a person, or

(b) dispense with service of a notice if the court is satisfied that the person already has actual notice of the contents of the notice and is avoiding service.

(3) If the court makes an order dispensing with service of a notice, the notice takes effect without being served.

(4) This section does not apply to a notice or other document of

(a) the appeal board, or

(b) the Safety Standards Appeal Board under Part 5 [Administrative *Penalties*].

Offence Act

40 Section 5 of the *Offence Act* does not apply to this Act or the regulations.

Regulations of minister

41 (1) The minister may make regulations referred to in section 41 of the *Interpretation Act*.

(2) Without limiting any other provision of this Act, the minister may make regulations as follows:

(a) respecting any matter for which regulations are contemplated by this Act, other than matters for which regulations are expressly contemplated to be made by the Lieutenant Governor in Council;

(b) prescribing matters as restricted for the purposes of section 5 (3)(b) [restrictions on local authority jurisdiction] or unrestricted for the purposes of section 5 (4);

(c) for the purposes of section 7 (2) (b) [request by local authority for variation] or 8 (2) (b) [request by person for variation], establishing classes of requests and prescribing different fees for those different classes;

(d) specifying matters in relation to which a person may, or may not, make a request under section 8 (1);

(e) establishing classes of persons for the purposes of section 10 (1)(b) *[local authority building decisions]*;

(f) for the purposes of section 11 (4) (a) or (5) (a) [qualification as building official], prescribing different fees by reference to different scopes of practice or different classes of building officials,

(g) prescribing an annual fee for the purposes of sections 12 (4) (b) (i) [register of qualified building officials] and 13 (b) (i) [annual report and annual fees];

(h) for the purposes of section 13, respecting the form and manner in which, and the time when, an annual report must be made and the time when the annual fee must be paid;

(i) for the purposes of section 20 (2) (b) or (d) *[appeals]*, establishing classes of applications and providing differently for those different classes;

(j) respecting estimations and calculations of recoverable costs for the purposes of Part 6 [Cost-Recovery];

(k) defining a word or expression used but not defined in this Act.

(3) Section 3 (2) (f) to (h) applies in relation to regulations under subsection (2)(b) of this section.

Regulations of Lieutenant Governor in Council

42 (1) The Lieutenant Governor in Council may make regulations referred to in section 41 of the *Interpretation Act*.

(2) Without limiting subsection (1), the Lieutenant Governor in Council may make regulations respecting any matter for which regulations are expressly contemplated by this Act to be made by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

Part 8 — Transitional Provisions and Consequential and Related Amendments

Transitional Provisions

Transition — restrictions on local authority jurisdiction

43 Section 5 *[restrictions on local authority jurisdiction]* does not apply in relation to a local authority until the date that is 2 years after the date the section comes into force.

Transition — local authority building decisions

44 (1) In this section:

"first cutoff date" means the date that is 6 months after the date section 10 comes into force;

"second cutoff date" means the date that is 4 years after the date section 10 comes into force.

(2) Section 10 [local authority building decisions] does not apply,

(a) before the first cutoff date, in relation to a person, and

(b) on any date that is after the first cutoff date and before the second cutoff date, in relation to a person who is a member in good standing of a professional association referred to in section 11 (1) (a) (iii) *[qualification as building official]*.

Transition — Building Code Appeal Board

45 Despite section 19 *[Building Code Appeal Board]*, the appeal board continued by that section consists of the chair of the appeal board and the members of the appeal board until a vice chair of the appeal board is appointed under that section.

Consequential and Related Amendments

[Note: See Table of Legislative Changes for the status of sections 46 to 62.]

Section(s)	Affected Act
46	Building Officials' Association Act
47-50	Community Charter
51	Homeowner Protection Act
52-57	Local Government Act
58	Public Sector Employers Act
<i>59~60</i>	Strata Property Act
61	University Endowment Land Act
62	Wood First Act

Commencement

63 This Act comes into force by regulation of the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

Copyright (c) Queen's Printer, Victoria, British Columbia, Canada